A. Identity Of Petitio 

Petitioner Julie Ber an was the plaintiff in the trial court 

and the respondent in the C urt of Appeals. 

B. Court Of Appeals 

Ms. Berryman see reVIew of the Court of Appeals' 

published decision of Nove ber 12, 2013. Berryman v. Metcalf,_ 

Wn. App. _, 312 P.3d 745 2013). Ms. Berryman asks the Court to 

review that portion of its d cision reversing the trial court's award 

of attorney fees under RCW .06.060(1). 

C. Issues Presented 

Did the Court of Appeals er 

(1) an award of attor ey fees under RCW 7.06.060 and MAR 

7-3 against a UIM insurer hat fails to improve its position after 

seeking trial de novo fro an award in mandatory arbitration 

cannot greatly exceed the i sured's damages? See Bostain v. Food 

Exp., Inc., 159 Wn.2d 700 153 P.3d 846, cert. denied, 552 U.S. 

1040 (2007); Brand v. Dep't Labor & Indus., 139 Wn.2d 659, 989 

P.2d 1111 (1999); Mahler v Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 957 P.2d 632 

(1998). RAP 13-4(b)(1), (2), (4). 

(2) a contingent fee greement limits counsel's expectation 

to recover fees for a claim subject to mandatory arbitration, and 
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does not provide a basis £ r enhancing the lodestar award? See 

Blair v. Wash. State Univ., 108 Wn.2d 558, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987); 

Chuang Van Pham v. City if Seattle, 159 Wn.2d 527, 151 P.3d 976 

(2007); Martinez v. City of acoma, 81 Wn. App. 228, 914 P.2d 86, 

rev. denied, 130 Wn.2d 101 (1996). RAP 13-4(b)(1), (2). 

(3) a trial court's fin ings establishing reasonable fees under 

the lodestar method must r solve as disputed issues of fact each of 

the non-prevailing party's objections to the fee petition? See 

Taliesen Corp. v. Razore and Co., 135 Wn. App. 106, 144 P.3d 

1185 (2oo6); TMT Bear Cr ek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal 

Supplies, Inc., 140 Wn. p. 191, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007). RAP 

13-4Cb)(2), (4). 

D. Statement Of The ase. 

This statement of fa ts is based upon the Court of Appeals 

decision, the trial court's fi dings of fact in support of its attorney 

fee award, and the substant al evidence supporting that award: 

1. Farmers C 
Claim By 
Berryman 
Arbitration 
Uninsured 

ntinued To Contest Berryman's 
ursuing A Trial De Novo After 
ecovered $35,724 In Mandatory 
or Chronic Injuries Caused By An 

Berryman was injure when a minivan struck the rear of her 

car as she pulled into her other's driveway. (Op. ~ 2) The driver 
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of the minivan was uninsur d. (Op. ~ 2) Berryman hired counsel 

on a contingent basis who rought suit on her behalf. (Op. ~ 4) 

Farmers Insurance Comp ny of Washington, her UIM carrier, 

intervened. (Op. ~ 4) 

$50,000 and sought arb tration in King County under the 

Mandatory Arbitration Rule and RCW ch. 7.06. (Op. ~5) 

The arbitrator awar ed Berryman $35,724, including over 

$13,000 in special damage . (CP 679; Op. ~ 5) Farmers sought 

trial de novo (Op. ~ 4) and emanded a jury of twelve. (CP 27-32, 

690-91) Farmers did not ccept Berryman's offer to compromise 

her claim for $3o,ooo. (CP 24-25, 655) 

In the de novo proc edings, Farmers then propounded two 

sets of interrogatories an requests for production. (CP 656) 

Berryman served requests or admission, which Farmers denied. 

Berryman successfully obt ined an order requiring Farmers to 

respond to discovery (CP 17 -74), and a protective order preventing 

Farmers' discovery of Ber 

after an in camera review. 

an's mental health counseling records, 

Farmers also obtain d two new expert opinions: one from 

Dr. Alan Tencer, a biomec anical engineer, who claimed that the 

forces experienced in the cident are "within the range of forces 
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experienced in daily living," and another from a chiropractic expert 

Dr. Renninger, who had pr viously examined Berryman, but who 

now, based solely on Dr Tencer's opinion, stated that that 

"Berryman did not sustain ny injury as a result of the accident." 

(CP 993, Op. ~~ 8-9) Ber an deposed Farmers' two experts. (CP 

656) Farmers deposed B rryman's treating doctor and rebuttal 

expert. (CP 656) 

Following discovery and extensive biomechanics research, 

Berryman's counsel succe sfully moved in limine to exclude 

Tencer's testimony (CP 177 93, 283-84; Op. ~ 8) The court denied 

Farmers' motion for recon ideration. (CP 406) Berryman then 

moved to exclude Dr. Ren inger's revised opinion on grounds of 

timeliness and foundation. (CP 909-19) The court initially denied 

the motion because Berrym n had time to pursue further discovery, 

but on the first day of trial, the trial court held that Reninger could 

not base an opinion on Te cer's excluded report. (CP 110-11, 366-

69; RP 85; Op. ~ 10) T e trial court also granted Berryman's 

motion to exclude photogr phs of damage to her car. CP 374-80; 

RP 8; Op. ~ 10) 

The Court of App als asserted that Farmers conceded 

liability (Op. ~ 7), but it con ested liability in its answer. (CP 24) Its 
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concession came only after erryman's motion for partial summary 

judgment. (CP 33-41, 87) e court granted summary judgment on 

the issue of liability, but de ·edit as to causation. (CP 113-15, 657) 

2. Berryman 0 tained A Jury Verdict Of $36,542 
And An A ard Of Attorney Fees, Plus A 
Multiplier. 

Trial was held over our days, from December 14 through 

December 20, 2011. The 12-person jury demanded by Farmers 

awarded Berryman $36,54 . (CP 562; Op. ~ 13) The trial court 

denied Farmer's motion for new trial and entered judgment on the 

jury's verdict. (CP 621-23, 

As Farmers had iled to Improve its position after 

demanding trial de novo, he trial court held that Farmers was 

liable for Berryman's attor ey fees under RCW 7.06.060 and MAR 

7·3· (CP 900-01; Op. ~ 14) Berryman's lawyers submitted detailed 

and contemporaneous billi g statements reflecting their services, 

which included five wri en discovery requests, requests for 

admission, depositions of two defense experts, a perpetuation 

deposition of Berryman's current chiropractor and discovery 

depositions of her previ us chiropractor and rebuttal expert, 

discovery motions, in ca era review of health care records, 

technical motions m responses to motions for 
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reconsideration of those ulings, a partial summary judgment 

motion, and a five-month trial continuance at Farmers' request, 

necessitating multiple sessi ns to prepare witness testimony. (CP 

656-58) 

As ers' "scorched earth" defense of its 

insured's UIM claim, Ber an's two lawyers had spent 468 hours 

on her case from the date f Farmers' 2009 trial de novo through 

verdict, and an additional 2.5 hours post-verdict. (Op. ~ 15; CP 

903-04) Four plaintiff ' lawyers testified that Berryman's 

requested hourly rate of $3 o and the time that they incurred were 

reasonable, and further tes ified that the economics of soft tissue 

cases made such cases ifficult to litigate, and particularly 

expensive when defended y a large insurer (CP 782-86, 789-92, 

1005-08, 1010-13), that expenses in such cases are 

enormously high compare with recoverable damages (CP 790, 

1005, 1011), and that the ubjective nature of soft tissue injuries 

makes the cases extremely isky. (CP 789-90, 1006, 1010) Simple 

economics, combined with i surers' tactics of routinely seeking trial 

de novo from arbitration a ards, impose a significant deterrent to 

litigate such claims throu h judgment. In this case, Farmers' 
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strategy forced Berryman' lawyers to advance costs of over 

$18,000, with little prospec of recovering that outlay. (CP 661) 

The trial court ente ed five pages of findings of fact and 

conclusions of law, finding that the $300 hourly rate sought by 

Berryman's counsel ($300) was supported by expert testimony and 

the skill level and reputati n of her counsel, and that the hours 

spent by Berryman's coun el, both pre-verdict and post-verdict, 

were reasonable. (CP 902- 6) The court expressly addressed each 

of the factors under RPC 1 5(a), granting a lodestar award of fees 

through trial of $140,000 nd a multiplier of 2.0, "based on the 

substantial risks borne b Plaintiffs counsel in recovering no 

compensation or inadequa e compensation to pay expenses and 

attorney fees." (FF 11-13, C 904-05; CL 2, 5, CP 905-06) The trial 

court awarded an addition 1 $11,900 for post-judgment work with 

no multiplier. (FF 3, CP 90 ; CL 4, 6, CP 905-06) 

3· The Court Of Appeals Reversed The Fee 
Award. 

Farmers again appe led the damages award to the Court of 

Appeals, now challenging t e trial court's exclusion of evidence, the 

denial of Farmers' motio for a new trial, and arguing that 
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Berryman had not improve her position from arbitration. It also 

challenged the award of att rney fees. 

In a published decis on, the Court of Appeals affirmed the 

judgment on the jury's verd ct, but vacated the fee award. Division 

One reversed the trial co rt's finding that the time spent by 

Berryman's two lawyers w s reasonable, because it far exceeded 

"the amount at stake" in hat it characterized a "run-of-the-mill 

minor injury case." (Op. ~~ 36-39) Division One directed the court 

on remand to make specific findings on each of Farmers' objections 

to Berryman's lodestar req est, characterizing those objections as 

"disputed issues of fact." ( p. ~~ 29-31) The court noted that the 

hourly rate of $300 far exc eded that charged by insurance defense 

counsel, and that it likely e compassed the risk Berryman's counsel 

was willing to accept under their contingent fee agreement for 40% 

of a claim not exceeding $ o,ooo. (Op. ~~ 75-77) Characterizing 

any lodestar enhancement a "penalty," the court held that, as a 

matter oflaw, "nothing in t e record ... justifies a multiplier." (Op. 

~~ 71, 78) 
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E. Argument Why R · ew Should Be Granted. 

1. The Court f Appeals Erroneously Held That 
An Award Of Attorney Fees Under RCW 
7.06.060 an MAR 7·3 Must Be Limited By The 
Amount Of he Plaintiffs Claim. 

The purpose of the m ndatory arbitration statute authorizing 

attorney fees is to promote ccess to the courts and to facilitate the 

expeditious resolution of meritorious claims. Division One's 

decision limiting an attorn y fee award based upon the amount of 

damages at issue is in confl' t with this Court's decisions in Bostain 

v. Food Exp., Inc., 159 W .2d 700, 722, ~~ 45-46, 153 P.3d 846, 

cert. denied, 552 U.S. 1040 2007); Brand v. Dep't Labor & Indus., 

139 Wn.2d 659,667, 989 P. d 1111 (1999); and Mahler v. Szucs, 135 

Wn.2d 398, 434, 957 P.2d 632 (1998). This Court should grant 

review. RAP 13-4(b)(1). 

"Central to the calcul tion of an attorney fees award ... is the 

underlying purpose of the statute authorizing the attorney fees." 

Brand, 139 Wn.2d at 667. In Brand, this Court held that because 

"[t]he purpose behind th award of attorney fees in workers 

compensation cases is to ensure adequate representation for 

injured workers who were nied justice by the Department," it was 

improper to reduce a fee aw rd under RCW 51.52.130 to account for 
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a worker's limited success efore the Board of Industrial Insurance 

Appeals. 139 Wn.2d at 670. 

Similarly, in Bostai , this Court reversed as an abuse of 

discretion a court's reduc ion of a lodestar award under RCW 

49-48.030 based on, am on other factors, "the size of the award for 

overtime wages." 159 Wn. d at 722 ~~ 45-46. And in Mahler, the 

Court held that while in ce ain cases the amount of the recovery 

may be a "relevant conside ation," "[w]e will not overturn a large 

attorney fee award in civil itigation merely because the amount at 

stake in the case is small." 35 Wn.2d at 433. 1 

The Court of Appeal held in this case that a fee award under 

RCW 7.06.060 did not sup ort an award in excess of the amount at 

issue on the grounds that t e mandatory arbitration provisions are 

not "remedial statues instil ed with public interest" (Op. ~ 73), and 

1 The Court of Appeals as similarly held that a court may not limit 
a fee award that eclipses e plaintiffs recovery if to do so would 
undermine the purpose of th statute authorizing fees. Perry v. Costco 
VVholesale, Inc., 123 Wn. pp. 783, 807-09, 98 P.3d 1264 (2004) 
(reversing ruling that canting ncy multiplier would "result in an attorney 
fee's award that would be dis roportionate to Plaintiffs damage award" 
under the Law Against Discr mination). See also Collings v. City First 
Mortgage Servs. LLC, 175 W . App. 589, 610, ~ 47, 308 P.3d 692 (2013) 
(CPA); Fiore v. PPG Indus., I c., 169 Wn. App. 325, 352, ~ 43, 279 P.3d 
972 (2012), rev. denied, 175 n.2d 1027 (2012) (MWA); Lay v. Hass, 112 
Wn. App. 818, 826, 51 P. d 130 (2002) (small claim under RCW 
4.84.250); Steele v. Lundgren 96 Wn. App. 773, 784, 982 P.2d 619 (1999) 
(WLAD), rev. denied, 139 W .2d 1026 (2000). The published decision 
conflicts equally with these Co rt of Appeals decisions. RAP 13-4(b)(2). 
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lack a "mandate for liberal onstruction." (Op. ~~ 61, 62) In doing 

so, the court disregarded th purposes of mandatory arbitration and 

the fee shifting provisions of MAR 7·3 and RCW 7.6o.o6o - to 

facilitate access to justice y providing an efficient forum for the 

resolution of small dam ges claims, to allow litigants with 

meritorious cases to avoid s bstantial fees and to deter clogging the 

courts with expensive trial de novo. See SHB 425, Bill Report, 

(Feb. 8, 1979) ("[mandato arbitration] is an effective method of 

reducing court congestion a d also providing a fair but streamlined 

resolution of disputes invol 'ng small sums. Speed is gained both 

in setting a hearing date an actual trial time."), quoted in Perkins 

Coie v. Williams, 84 Wn. A p. 733, 737, 929 P.2d 1215, rev. denied, 

132 Wn.2d 1013 (1997). 

MAR 7·3 and RCW 7. 6.o6o fulfill important public interests 

by providing a disincentiv to appeal meritorious awards and to 

compensate litigants who, in the process, have been forced to 

expend substantial fees to reserve the result achieved in their case 

after a full and fair heari g in arbitration. See also Niccum v. 

Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441, 51, ~ 17, 286 P.3d 966 (2012) ("the 

purpose of MAR 7.3 is to encourage settlement and discourage 

meritless appeals"); Hough v. Stockbridge, 152 Wn. App. 328, 349-
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so, 216 P.3d 1077 (2009) a losing party is properly charged for 

time incurred not just for t · al de novo but on motions upon which 

he or she did not prevail), r v. denied, 168 Wn.2d 1043 (2010). In 

holding that "there is no tatute declaring that personal injury 

claims in general, or clai s for minor soft tissue injuries in 

particular serve public poli y goals ... ", (Op. ~ 72), the Court of 

Appeals here dismissed the access to justice goals as insignificant. 

The Court of Appeal erred in applying a lodestar analysis 

completely divorced from he remedial and salutary purposes of 

RCW 7.06.060. Division One's reliance on Scott Fetzer Co. v. 

Weeks, 122 Wn.2d 141, 14 , 859 P.2d 1210 (1993), is particularly 

misplaced because in Scott Fetzer this Court held that a fee award 

under the long arm statut must be limited in order to fulfill the 

statutory purpose of encour ging access to Washington courts: 

Unlike many fee shi ing statutes which attempt only 
to punish frivolous li igation or encourage meritorious 
litigation, RCW 4 28.185(5) balances the dual 
purposes of recomp nsing an out-of-state defendant 
for its reasonable e orts while also encouraging the 
full exercise of state j risdiction. 

122 Wn.2d at 149. Becau e a substantial fee award under RCW 

4.28.185 would undermin rather than further the legislative 

purpose of providing acce s to justice in Washington courts, a 
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defendant who defeats the xercise of long arm jurisdiction "should 

not recover more than an a ount necessary to compensate him for 

the added litigative burden resulting from the plaintiffs use of the 

long-arm statute." 122 W .2d at 149, quoting Scott Fetzer Co. v. 

Weeks, 114 Wn.2d 109, 120, 786 P.2d 265 (1990). 

Here, the trial c urt followed established precedent, 

calculating a lodestar fee "b multiplying the reasonable hourly rate 

by the reasonable of hours incurred in obtaining the 

successful result," and e hancing that lodestar based on the 

substantial contingency Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 434. In 

reversing that award, the ourt of Appeals erroneously held that 

"[i]n a mandatory arbitrati n case, ... the proportionality of the fee 

award to the amount at sta e remains a vital consideration," (Op. ~ 

36), and that the amou t at issue "suggest[s] a downward" 

adjustment to the lodestar (Op. ~ 37, quoting Scott Fetzer, 122 

Wn.2d at 150) 

The Court of Appe Is' published decision will encourage, 

rather than discourage, in urers' meritless appeals of arbitration 

awards, ensuring that those who are forced to relitigate meritorious 

claims after prevailing at m ndatory arbitration will never be made 

whole. Division One's opin on conflicts with this Court's decisions, 
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those of the Court of Appe s, and presents an issue of substantial 

concern. RAP 13-4(b)(1), (2 , (4). 

2. The Court f Appeals Improperly Relied On 
The Conting nt Fee Agreement To Reduce The 
Lodestar A rd. 

The Court of Appeal ' published decision also conflicts with 

the established principle th t a court must set the lodestar based on 

the prevailing market rate f attorneys of similar experience in the 

same area of practice in th relevant community, and should not 

limit the hourly rate based on the prevailing party's particular fee 

arrangement. Blair v. Wa hington State Univ., 108 Wn.2d 558, 

740 P.2d 1379 (1987); Fah v. Cowlitz County, 95 Wn.2d 679, 628 

P.2d 813 (1981); Martinez . City of Tacoma, 81 Wn. App. 228, 914 

P.2d 86, rev. denied, 130 W .2d 1010 (1996). The Court of Appeals 

improperly relied on Ber an's contingent fee agreement to hold 

as a matter of law that the t ial court's lodestar rate of $300 already 

compensated Berryman's c nsel for any risk they faced. 

In Blair, this Court eversed the trial court's reduction of a 

lodestar fee on the ground that the plaintiffs were represented by 

public interest attorneys. 1 8 Wn. 2d at 570-71. In Fahn, the Court 

held that pro bono represe tation does not preclude an award of 

reasonable fees to a prev iling plaintiff under the Law Against 
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Discrimination. 95 Wn.2d t 685. In Martinez, Division Two held 

that the terms of plaintiffs ontingent fee agreement could not limit 

a lodestar award of fees. 81 n. App. at 236-37. 

Here, to the contrary the Court of Appeals held that the trial 

court based its lodestar etermination not on "the attorneys' 

established rate for billing c ients who pay by the hour, or even their 

baseline expectation for a hieving recovery in a contingent fee 

case," because under their ontingent fee agreement the most they 

could have been paid was 40% of $50,000, thereby establishing 

that Berryman's lawyers " ere willing to work for less than $300 

per hour." (Op. ~ 77) The Court of Appeals erroneously followed 

the reasoning of City of Bu lington v. Dague, 505 U.S. 557, 112 S. 

Ct. 2638, 120 L.Ed.2d 44 (1992), a case this Court expressly 

rejected when it held risk factor authorizes an 

enhancement to the lodesta above and beyond a reasonable market 

hourly rate. Chuong Van ham v. City of Seattle, 159 Wn.2d 527, 

541-42, ~~ 22-23, 151 P.3d 9 6 (2007). 

The trial court's of $300 was based on 

substantial evidence of hourly rate for services 

performed for individual lients billed on a monthly basis by 
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counsel of comparable s ·n and experience. 2 Division One's 

published decision authori es trial courts to rely on the parties' 

contingent fee agreement in small claims to set a lodestar below the 

market rate. RAP 13-4(b)(1) (2), (4). 

3· The Court f Appeals Erroneously Rejected 
The Trial C urt's Discretionary Enhancement 
To The L destar And Its Finding That 
Berryman's awyers Faced Substantial Risk Of 
Recovering o Fee At All. 

Rather than reduci g the lodestar, this Court's decisions 

authorize enhancements to he lodestar based upon substantial risk 

-precisely what the trial co rt found here. See Chuang Van Pham, 

159 Wn.2d at 542, ~~ 23-24 Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 

100 Wn.2d 581, 598, 675 P.2d 193 (1983). Adjusting a lodestar for 

risk "is necessarily an imp cise calculation and must largely be a 

matter of the trial court's discretion." Chuang Van Pham, 159 

Wn.2d at 542, ~ 24, 151 .3d 976 (2007) (emphasis in original, 

quoting Bowers, 100 Wn. d at 598-99). The Court of Appeals

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