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

IV. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied 

The Supreme Court will only accept a petition for review under four 

circumstances: 

1) The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a 
decision of the Supreme Court; 

2) The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with another 
decision of the Court of Appeals; 

3) The petition raises a significant question of constitutional 
law; or 

4) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 
that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b). Berryman seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). 

But, her petition does not meet the jurisdictional requirements noted above 

as the Court of Appeals applied well-established Washington law, and its 

decision does not conflict with any other appellate decision. Moreover, 

the Court of Appeals' correct decision regarding attorneys' fees implicates 

no substantial public interest. Berryman's petition should be denied. 

A. Review Is Not Justified Under RAP 13.4(b)(l) or (2) 
- The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict 
With any Other Appellate Decision 

Because the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with other 

Washington appellate cases, neither RAP 13.4(b)(l) nor (2) provides a 

basis for this Court to accept review. The Court of Appeals simply 

applied well-established Washington law to correct a grossly excessive 

attorneys' fee award that was clearly an abuse of discretion. Berryman 

failed to meet her burden of demonstrating that $291,950 was a reasonable 
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award of fees for obtaining a $36,542 verdict which was only $800 more 

than the arbitration award in her favor. No aspect of Washington law 

would support FICW owing nearly $300,000 in attorneys' fees for 

Berryman having improved her position by $800 at a trial de novo. 

1. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined 
that the Trial Court's Lodestar Calculation 
Was an Abuse of Discretion. 

MAR 7.3 provides that the court may assess costs and reasonable 

attorney fees against a party "who appeals the [arbitration] award and fails 

to improve the party's position on the trial de novo." Washington courts 

use the lodestar method as a starting point in determining what the 

reasonable attorneys' fees award would be in a given case. Berryman, 312 

P.3d at 755; Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks, 122 Wn.2d 141, 151, 859 P.2d 

1210, 1215 (1993) (Fetzer II). Under the lodestar method, the party 

seeking fees bears the burden of proving the reasonableness of a fee 

request. 312 P.3d at 753 (citing Fetzer II, 122 Wn.2d at 151 ). The lodestar 

amount is determined by first multiplying "a reasonable hourly rate by 

the number of hours expended on the matter." Fetzer II at 149-150 

(citations omitted)(emphasis by the court); Bowers v. Transamerica Title 

Ins. Co., 100 Wn.2d 581, 675 P.2d 193 (1983). An "attorney's hourly rate 

encompasses the attorney's efficiency, or 'ability to produce results in the 

minimum time.'" 312 P.3d at 757 (quoting Bowers, 100 Wn.2d at 600). 
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The lodestar method is only a starting point. 312 P.3d at 755. A fee 

calculated in this way may not necessarily be found to be a "reasonable" fee. 

See, e.g., Fetzer II, 122 Wn.2d at 151. Whether the fee requested is a 

"reasonable" fee is an independent determination to be made by the Court. 

Fetzer II at 151; Nordstrom, Inc. v. Tampourlos, 107 Wn.2d 735, 744, 733 

P.2d 208 (1987). "[T]he trial court, instead of merely relying on the billing 

records of the plaintiffs attorney, should make an independent decision as to 

what represents a reasonable amount for attorney fees." Tampourlos at 744. 

"Courts must take an active role in assessing the reasonableness of fee 

awards, rather than treating cost decisions as a litigation afterthought. 

Courts should not simply accept unquestioningly fee affidavits from 

counsel." 312 P.3d at 753 (quoting Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 434-

35, 957 P.2d 632, 966 P.2d 305 (1998)). "In assessing the reasonableness 

of a fee request, a 'vital' consideration is 'the size of the amount in dispute in 

relation to the fees requested."' 312 P.3d at 755 (quoting Fetzer II, 122 

Wn.2d at 150). "In a mandatory arbitration case, where the sole objective of 

filing suit is to obtain compensatory damages for an individual plaintiff, the 

proportionality of the fee award to the amount at stake remains a vital 

consideration." 312 P.3d at 755. 

A trial court has discretion in determining a reasonable attorney fee, 

but the determination of whether the fees are reasonable must be based on 
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the specific facts ofthe case. Singleton v. Frost, 108 Wn.2d 723, 731,742 

P.2d 1224, 1228 (1987); see also Pham v. City of Seattle, 159 Wn.2d 527, 

538, 151 P.3d 976 (2007). "The total hours an attorney has recorded for 

work in a case is to be discounted for hours spent on 'unsuccessful claims, 

duplicated effort, or otherwise unproductive time."' 312 P.3d at 755-756 

(quoting Bowers, 100 Wn.2d at 597). "Duplicated efforts includes 

overstaffing." 312 P.3d at 756. That fee requests are too often seen as an 

occasion for excess was recognized by this Court in Fetzer II: 

[A] claim for over 10 times the amount in contention, 
in a run-of-the-mill commercial dispute, certainly gives 
rise to a suspicion of unreasonableness, and demonstrates 
little, if any, billing judgment .... Washington ha[s] ethical 
rules mandating that attorneys charge only a reasonable 
fee .... We take this occasion to remind practitioners that such 
considerations apply whether one's fee is being paid by a 
client or the opposing party. 

Fetzer IL 122 Wn.2d at 156 (emphasis added). The Fetzer II court 

reduced a $200,000 fee request to approximately $22,000, including 

appellate work. The Court of Appeals' decision here is consistent with 

Fetzer II. When the lodestar fee greatly exceeds the value of the case, the 

lodestar fee is unreasonable and should be adjusted downward. Bowers, 

100 Wn.2d at 597. Any fee that would be unreasonable if paid by the 

actual client is not made reasonable simply because the other party ends 

up paying the fee. See 312 P.3d at 753. 
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RPC 1.5 provides that "A lawyer shall not make an agreement for, 

charge, or collect an unreasonable fee ... " and lists a number of factors to 

consider in determining the reasonableness of a fee request, including the 

novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, the skill required, the 

amount involved and the results obtained. A lodestar fee, like all attorney 

fees, must comply with RPC 1.5. Fetzer II, supra. The RPC factors 

applied to the facts of this case mandated the Court of Appeals' conclusion 

that the trial court's fee award was unreasonable and excessive. 

Like Fetzer II, which was a "simple commercial case" involving 120 

vacuum cleaners, this case was a simple auto personal injury case with 

only 10 hours of testimony. There were no novel or difficult questions 

involved and no unusual or special skill was required. Even plaintiff 

evaluated the case at a low value, putting it into mandatory arbitration. An 

award of $280,000 in fees is almost eight times the verdict, and more than 

15 times what the contingent fee award based on the verdict would have 

been. This was not reasonable under Fetzer II or RPC 1.5, both of which 

require consideration of the relationship between the size of the case and 

the award requested. The trial court's award to Berryman presented 

exactly the kind of discrepancy that Fetzer II held unacceptable. 

A fee agreement for $300,000 in fees for an MAR level rear-end 

auto case would undoubtedly be voided under RPC 1.5 as against public 
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policy and unenforceable. See, e.g., Simburg, Ketter, Sheppard & Purdy, 

L.L.P. v. Olshan, 97 Wn. App. 901, 909, 988 P.2d 467 (1999). An award 

of fees by the court that would be unconscionable if contained in a fee 

agreement is improper. What would be an unconscionable fee if charged 

to Berryman is equally unconscionable when assessed against FICW. 

Berryman's counsel were allowed to make the choice to double staff 

and overwork this case, but the Court of Appeals was correct in holding that 

FICW does not have to pay fees in conjunction with that overworking of the 

case. As the Court of Appeals noted, a defendant paying fees as a result of a 

trial de novo does not have to pay for a "Cadillac approach to a Chevrolet 

case." 312 P.3d at 756. If Berryman's counsel truly spent nearly 500 hours 

on the trial de novo in this simple, small case, that was clearly a decision to 

take a "Cadillac approach to a Chevrolet case." Berryman's counsel may 

choose to spend their time that way, but FICW does not have to pay the 

resulting unreasonable bill. 

There was significant overstaffing and duplication of effort by 

Berryman's counsel in this case, but the trial court failed to deduct any of 

the excessive and duplicative time or even address FICW's detailed 

objections. Due to space limitations, FICW cannot go into detail 

regarding all the ways in which the attorneys' fee request was shockingly 

excessive, but in general terms, she had two attorneys working up the case 
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and attending trial. Both attorneys billed for trial and trial preparation, and 

the same pre-trial tasks. They billed for a number of unsuccessful tasks, 

such as 43.1 hours for improperly attempting to obtain FICW's UIM 

claims file and depose the claim representative even though FICW was 

simply an intervenor standing in the shoes of the uninsured drivers. 

Her counsel billed 468.55 hours (58.6 work-days at 8 hours per day) 

to prepare and try a case with a total of seven witnesses, lasting less than 

four days.2 This was excessive. To put it into perspective, assuming a 40-

hour work week, her counsel billed 8 Y2 weeks of full-time work on this 

case - even though "the case had previously been prepared for and taken 

through an arbitration, the fault of the uninsured drivers was conceded 

before trial, the witnesses gave ordinary testimony typical of such cases, 

and trial took three and a half days." 312 P.3d at 755. In violation of 

Bowers, the trial court did not deduct any time for the duplicative work, 

overstaffing, and unsuccessful work, and allowed an excessive hourly rate 

as well as a 2.0 "multiplier" requested by plaintiff. The end result was an 

excessive fee which violated RPC 1.5- a windfall to Berryman's counsel 

2 The brief trial continuance from November 2011 to December did not, as 
Berryman asserts, significantly increase the time needed for witness preparation. 
The vast majority of entries for witness preparation were in October and 
November, before the trial was continued to December. See CP 840-850. In 
addition, Berryman's assertion that an earlier five-month continuance was at 
FICW's request (Petition, p. 6) is wrong- that continuance was at Berryman's 
request, as was an earlier two-month continuance. See CP 136, 656, 700. 
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and an impermissible award of punitive damages against FICW. The 

Court of Appeals simply correctly applied prior precedent in reversing the 

trial court's clearly erroneous attorneys' fee award, correctly finding that it 

was a manifest abuse of discretion for the trial court to accept 468.55 

hours as reasonable for this small case. 

The Court of Appeals correctly found that, in a basic personal injury 

case like this, the expectations of the attorney under his contingent fee 

agreement are highly relevant. Here, Berryman's counsel put the case into 

MAR, demonstrating that they did not believe the value of her claims 

exceeded $50,000. Under the fee agreement, they were entitled to 40% of 

the award, after deducting costs, for trial, and 50% if appeal were necessary. 

CP 666. 40% of the $50,000 maximum Berryman could have received at 

arbitration, after deducting costs, would have been $16,273.20. Her counsel 

are not entitled to a windfall of 18 times that amount simply because FICW, 

rather than Berryman, is paying the fee. 

Berryman asserts that the contingent fee agreement she signed cannot 

serve as a basis for reduction of the lodestar amount, but in support cites only 

distinguishable cases. Blair v. Washington State University, 108 Wn.2d 

558, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987), Fahn v. Cowlitz County, 95 Wn.2d 679, 628, 

P.2d 813 (1981), Martinez v. City of Tacoma, 81 Wn. App. 228, 235, 914 

P.2d 86 (1996), and Pham are all Washington Law Against Discrimination 
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cases, where, as discussed below, the injuries pursued are considered public 

injuries such that a fee award can potentially significantly exceed the amount 

recovered by the plaintiff. In stark contrast, Berryman's claim was a private 

claim for her own bodily injury. In such basic personal injury cases, no 

public policy concerns are implicated which would support a departure from 

RPC 1.5 and Fetzer II. It is absolutely fair and correct that, in determining 

attorneys' fees for such a private car accident injury, the courts look to the 

contingent fee agreement to see what amount the attorney expected to be 

compensated by his client when he took the case. 

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined 
that the Trial Court Must Make Findings of 
Fact Where a Party Against Which Fees Are 
to Be Awarded Makes Detailed Objections 
Regarding Specific Time Entries 

The Court of Appeals also correctly required that the trial court, on 

remand, make substantive determinations regarding all of the detailed 

objections made by FICW. In arguing that this was improper, Berryman 

cites only two readily distinguishable cases: Taliesen Corp. v. Razore 

Land Co., 135 Wn. App. 106, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006) (party opposing fee 

request did not argue hourly rate excessive and trial court's order specified 

that fee award did not include any fees for the disputed tasks); and TMI' 

Bear Creek Shopping Center, Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc., 140 Wn. 

App. 191, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007) (no indication that party opposing 
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$26,301.91 fee and cost request had argued against inclusion of any 

specific tasks or that hourly rate was excessive). 

This case is very different. Here, FICW objected to many specific 

tasks and time entries as to which hours were awarded, and the fee request 

exponentially exceeded the verdict, but the trial court failed to address any 

ofFICW's detailed objections. Under these circumstances, a detailed trial 

court review was, and still is, necessary. See, e.g., Mayer v. City of 

Seattle, 102 Wn. App. 66, 82-83, 10 P.3d 408 (2000). A careful analysis 

and review of the challenged entries may be time consuming, but that is 

what is required in order to determine whether the time requested was 

reasonable and necessary. The trial court being directed to create a record 

sufficient for appellate review under the specific facts of this case provides 

no basis for this Court to accept review. 

3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined 
that the Trial Court's 2.0 Multiplier to the 
Lodestar Fee Was an Abuse of Discretion 

The Court of Appeals also correctly found that the trial court's use 

of a multiplier was an abuse of discretion, thoroughly examining all 

reported multiplier decisions to date and noting that all multiplier cases 

relied upon by Berryman are materially different - as are the additional 

cases she now cites in incorrectly asserting that the Court of Appeals' 

decision here conflicts with other Washington appellate decisions. No 
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Washington case law would support the use of a multiplier in a small, 

simple, run-of-the-mill auto accident injury case like this one. 

After determining the lodestar, the trial court may adjust the award 

up or down "to reflect factors not already taken into consideration." 

Broyles v. Thurston County, 147 Wn. App. 409,452, 195 P.3d 985 (2008). 

Because a lodestar fee is presumed reasonable, it should be adjusted 

upwards only rarely. Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 434. Multipliers are generally 

reserved for statutory claims brought in furtherance of the public interest. 

See, e.g., Broyles, 147 Wn. App. 409, (addressing WLAD). The prospect 

of a multiplier encourages private enforcement of these statutes. Martinez. 

Outside this narrow context of public injuries such as discrimination and 

civil rights, multipliers are generally inappropriate. For example, when 

Justice Sanders sued the State of Washington under the Public Records 

Act, he asked for a "multiplier of 1.5 because his attorneys worked on a 

contingency." Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 869, 240 P.3d 120 

(2010). The trial court rejected his effort to apply a multiplier for the

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